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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

 Appellant, New Union Wildlife Federation (“NUWF”), filed a Complaint against Jim Bob 

Bowman (“Bowman”) in the United States District Court for the District of New Union under 

the citizen suit provision of the Clean Water Act. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a) (2006). This appeal is 

from a Final Judgment entered by the district court granting Bowman’s Motion for Summary 

Judgment. Jurisdiction is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1291, 1294 (2006). 

ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. Under constitutional standing requirements, do organizations have standing when they 

fail to demonstrate injury in fact or that any harm is fairly traceable to the defendant? 

2. Under the CWA’s requirement that an ongoing violation must presently exist for citizens 

to bring suit, is a citizen suit barred when the alleged violation ended approximately a 

month and a half before an organization filed its citizen suit?  

3. Under the CWA’s diligent prosecution limitation on citizen suits, is a citizen suit barred 

when the responsible state agency issued an administrative order and commenced a 

judicial enforcement action against the alleged violator before an environmental 

organization filed its citizen suit? 

4. Under the CWA’s prohibition against adding pollutants to navigable waters, does a 

private landowner violate §§ 301(a) and 404 when he moves native soil within the same 

wetlands area? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case arose after NUWF, a nonprofit corporation, learned that Bowman had prepared his 

property for farming. (R. at 4). NUWF sent notice of its intent to sue Bowman under CWA § 505 

to Bowman, EPA, and New Union Department of Environmental Protection (“NUDEP”). (R. at 
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4). The validity of NUWF’s notice is not in dispute. (R. at 4). After receiving notice, NUDEP 

issued Bowman an administrative order and then filed a civil suit under CWA § 505 against him. 

(R. at 4–5). After NUDEP filed suit, NUWF commenced its own suit under CWA § 505 

claiming that Bowman was in violation of §§ 301(a) and 404 for discharging dredge or fill 

material into a water of the United States. (R. at 1, 4–5). It sought the imposition of civil 

penalties and an order requiring Bowman to remove the fill material and restore the wetlands. (R. 

at 1, 4–5). In its own case, NUDEP filed a motion to enter a decree and Bowman consented to 

this motion; however, the motion is still pending before the district court. (R. at 5).   

NUDEP and NUWF filed motions to intervene in each other’s civil suits. (R. at 5). In 

addition to its Motion to Intervene, NUWF filed an opposition to entry of the decree proposed by 

NUDEP. (R. at 5). The district court granted NUDEP’s Motion to Intervene. (R. at 5). However, 

the district court informed both parties that it was not acting upon any of the other presented 

motions. (R. at 5). The district court’s decision was done without prejudice. (R. at 5).  

On June 1, 2012, the Honorable Romulus N. Remus, District Court Judge for the District of 

New Union, granted Bowman’s Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. at 11). The court held: (1) 

NUWF lacks standing because neither it nor its members suffered an injury in fact fairly 

traceable to Bowman’s alleged violations; (2) the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction because 

any violations are wholly past; (3) the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction because the State of 

New Union has already commenced an enforcement action and fully resolved the violations; and 

(4) the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction because addition, a required element of § 505 of the 

CWA, is not satisfied. (R. at 5). In response to the district court’s opinion, both NUDEP and 

NUWF filed a timely Notice of Appeal to this Court. (R. at 1).  



 

3 
 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Background: On the Farm  

Bowman privately owns one thousand acres near Mudflats, New Union. (R. at 3). His entire 

property falls within the region’s one hundred year floodplain. (R. at 3). Bowman’s property 

includes 650 feet of shoreline along the Muddy River and the property fits within the Army 

Corps of Engineers’ definition of a wetland. (R. at 3–4). The river hydrologically connects to 

Bowman’s property, and forms the border between New Union and Progress while stretching for 

at least forty miles both upstream and downstream from his property. (R. at 3).  

On June 15, 2012, Bowman began preparing his land for farming wheat. (R. at 4–5). Over a 

month, he removed trees and other vegetation to create a field suitable for cultivation. (R. at 4). 

To dispose of the refuse produced by clearing his land, Bowman safely placed the refuse into 

windrows and burned it. (R. at 4). He then dug trenches, pushed the remaining refuse into them, 

and leveled the resulting field. (R. at 4). Bowman also created a swale to drain the field into the 

Muddy River. (R. at 4). He chose not to clear a 150˗foot wide section of land adjacent to the 

river because it was saturated with water. (R. at 4). In September, the field had sufficiently 

drained and Bowman planted a crop of winter wheat. (R. at 5).  

The Lawsuit: Trampling the Farmer 

NUWF, a nonprofit corporation, sent a notice to Bowman on July 1, 2012, of its intent to sue 

him under CWA § 505. (R. at 4). Shortly thereafter, NUDEP sent Bowman a notice that he had 

violated state and federal environmental laws by clearing his land for farming. (R. at 4). Bowman 

took the position that he had not violated state or federal law, but decided it was in his best 

interest to enter into a settlement agreement with NUDEP. (R. at 4).  
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The terms of the agreement were as follows: 

Bowman would convey a conservation easement, which includes the uncleared 
section of his property adjacent to the Muddy River and an additional 75˗foot 
buffer zone between that section and his wheat crop. In the conservation 
easement, Bowman agreed to allow the public to enter his property for 
appropriate day-only recreational activities and keep the easement area in its 
natural state. Additionally, he agreed to construct and maintain a year-round 
wetland on the buffer zone. Furthermore, Bowman promised not to conduct 
further land clearing in the area. 
 

(R. at 4). On August 1, 2012, the parties incorporated their agreement into an administrative 

order. (R. at 4). Although NUDEP had the authority to sanction Bowman up to $125,000 in the 

administrative order, it decided that no penalty was warranted. (R. at 4). 

Following the order, on August 10, 2012, NUDEP filed a civil suit under CWA § 505 against 

Bowman in federal court. (R. at 5). Twenty days after NUDEP filed its civil suit and forty-five 

days after Bowman completed his land clearing activities, NUWF filed its own civil suit against 

Bowman despite NUDEP’s progress in diligently resolving the issue. (R. at 5). 

On September 5, 2012, NUDEP filed a motion for the district court to enter a decree identical 

to the state administrative order. (R. at 5). Bowman consented to the motion and decree, 

however, the motion is still pending before the district court. (R. at 5). Although NUDEP 

proposed and Bowman consented to the decree, NUWF opposes the decree. (R. at 5).  

During discovery, NUWF presented the affidavits of three of its members, Dottie Milford, 

Zeke Norton, and Effie Lawless. (R. at 6). The members testified that they often used Bowman’s 

property or property in the vicinity for recreational boating, fishing, and picnicking. (R. at 6). 

Although they cannot see a difference, they testified they are aware of differences and claimed to 

fear that the Muddy River is more polluted. (R. at 6). Milford said that the river looks more 

polluted now than it did before Bowman’s agricultural activities. (R. at 6). And, Norton, who 

admitted he “might have been trespassing” when he went frogging on Bowman’s property, 
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testified that currently fewer frogs remain in the area. (R. at 6). However, NUWF’s members 

stated that they could not tell a difference in the land from the river or its banks. (R. at 6).  

After discovery, both parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (R. at 5). After the 

district court granted Bowman’s Motion for Summary Judgment in full, NUWF filed an appeal 

challenging all four rulings. NUDEP also appealed but only challenges the rulings that NUWF 

lacks standing and that Bowman did not violate CWA § 404. (R. at 5).    

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This court reviews a grant of summary judgment de novo. United States v. Winstar Corp., 

518 U.S. 839, 860 (1996). The question before the district court, and this Court on appeal, is 

whether the record, when viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, shows that 

there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter 

of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c); United States v. Diebold, Inc., 369 U.S. 654, 655 (1962). Where the 

unresolved issues are primarily legal rather than factual, summary judgment is particularly 

appropriate. See id. In the present case, the facts were not in dispute. Rather, the district court 

disposed of the case based upon its determinations of law. This Court must now decide whether 

the district court applied the correct legal standards. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The district court properly awarded Bowman summary judgment because (1) NUWF lacks 

standing; (2) its citizen suit is barred because the alleged violation has ceased; (3) its citizen suit 

also is barred because NUDEP is diligently prosecuting Bowman; and (4) Bowman did not 

violate CWA §§ 301(a) and 404. Each of the district court’s holdings is legally supportable under 

its respective constitutional, statutory, and applicable case law. Therefore, this Court should 

affirm the district court’s order granting Bowman’s Motion for Summary Judgment. 



 

6 
 

First, the district court correctly held that NUWF lacked standing because neither NUWF nor 

its members sufficiently alleged an injury in fact fairly traceable to Bowman’s activities, which 

is an indispensable part of their case. To prevent the wheels of justice from grinding to a halt, the 

Constitution requires plaintiffs to differentiate themselves from the general aggrieved masses. 

Plaintiffs differentiate themselves when they can articulate to using a specific part of the affected 

area and to suffering valid articulable injuries. However, NUWF has failed to demonstrate this. 

Its members merely testified to a vague use—that they use property “in the vicinity of” the 

challenged area, which is a river over 80 miles long and more than 500 feet wide. Courts have 

consistently found similar claims to be fatally vague. Because NUWF’s members’ claims lack 

specificity, both in the proximity of their uses to Bowman’s property and in how their interests in 

the Muddy River have been lessened, this Court should find that NUWF lacks standing. 

Second, NUWF’s citizen suit is barred because Bowman is not in continuing violation of the 

CWA and citizen suits cannot be brought for wholly past violations. Continuing violations exist 

only when the violation occurs on or after a suit is filed or when there is a reasonable likelihood 

the defendant will violate in the future. The undisputed facts show that Bowman ceased dredging 

operations and entered into an agreement with NUDEP before NUWF filed suit. Additionally, 

NUWF has failed to present any evidence that Bowman is likely to violate the CWA in the 

future. From the start, Bowman has fully cooperated with NUDEP saving the State of New 

Union countless dollars. Based on the undisputed history of his actions, no reasonable person 

would believe there was a likelihood that he would violate the CWA in the future.  

Third, the district court correctly determined that NUDEP’s judicial enforcement action 

against Bowman bars NUWF’s duplicate citizen suit. The CWA only allows citizen plaintiffs to 

file suit if the state or federal government is unwilling to enforce compliance. The exact opposite 
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is true in the present case. NUDEP has taken every action necessary to enforce the CWA. Thus, 

because NUDEP has commenced and is diligently prosecuting Bowman in a United States court, 

this Court should affirm the district court’s holding. 

Finally, Bowman did not violate CWA §§ 301(a) and 404. The sections state that a violation 

occurs when a pollutant, including fill material, is discharged into navigable water. According to 

the Act and the Corps’ regulations, the term “discharge of fill material” means the addition of fill 

material into waters of the United States. Under the plain meaning of the statute and the EPA’s 

interpretation, the term addition is not broad enough to cover all earth-moving activities taking 

place in a wetlands area. The district court correctly held that moving native soil within a 

wetlands area was not an addition; thus Bowman did not violate the CWA. Therefore, this Court 

should affirm the district court’s judgment in all respects.  

ARGUMENT 

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT NUWF LACKS STANDING UNDER ARTICLE III 
OF THE CONSTITUTION. 

 
Under the CWA, “a person or persons having an interest which is or may be adversely 

affected” may bring a citizen suit. 33 U.S.C. § 1365(g) (2006). The CWA citizen suit provision 

extends standing to the outer boundaries set by the “case or controversy” requirement of Article 

III of the Constitution. See U.S. Const. art. III, § 2; Middlesex Cnty. Sewerage Auth. v. Nat’l Sea 

Clammers Ass’n, 453 U.S. 1, 16 (1981). Thus, the statutory and constitutional standing issues 

merge. Ecological Rights Found. v. Pac. Lumber Co., 230 F.3d 1141, 1147 (9th Cir. 2000). 

An organization has standing to bring a citizen suit on behalf of its members when (1) 

“its members would otherwise have standing to sue in their own right,” (2) “the interests it seeks 

to protect are germane to the organization’s purpose,” and (3) “neither the claim asserted nor the 
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relief requested requires the participation of individual members.” Hunt v. Wash. State Apple 

Adver. Comm’n, 432 U.S. 333, 343 (1977). NUWF has failed to satisfy the first prong. 

In order to have standing to sue, individuals must show: (1) they have suffered an injury 

in fact; (2) the injury is fairly traceable to the defendant’s challenged act; and (3) it is likely 

rather than speculative that the injury will be redressed by a favorable court decision. Lujan v. 

Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992). In the present case, the dispute principally 

hinges on whether any of NUWF’s members have alleged an injury in fact that is fairly traceable 

to Bowman’s alleged violation and therefore, would have standing to sue in their own right. The 

district court correctly determined that NUWF failed to establish that its members would have 

standing to sue in their own right. 

Additionally, the party invoking federal jurisdiction bears the burden of establishing 

standing, and establishing standing is an indispensable part of the plaintiff’s case. Lujan, 504 

U.S. at 561. Thus, when responding to a summary judgment motion, plaintiffs must assert to 

more than mere allegations; they must assert “by affidavit or other evidence specific facts.” Id. 

Although the appellate court reviews the grant of summary judgment on the issue of standing de 

novo, this Court must sustain the district court’s decision if the plaintiffs fail to meet their 

burden. Ecological Rights, 230 F.3d at 1147.  

A. NUWF’s members failed to demonstrate an injury in fact because they testified to 
using an area in the vicinity of Bowman’s property and did not show how his 
activities have lessened their recreational and aesthetic interests. 

 
The injury in fact requirement prevents plaintiffs with merely a generalized grievance from 

transforming the judicial process into a bystander vindication vehicle. Friends of the Earth, Inc. 

v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp., 204 F.3d 149, 156 (4th Cir. 2000). The Supreme Court has 

defined an injury in fact as “an invasion of a judicially cognizable interest which is (1) concrete 
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and particularized and (2) actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical.” Lujan, 504 U.S. 

at 560. Judicially recognized cognizable interests include aesthetic and recreational values. 

Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs, Inc., 528 U.S. 167, 182–83 (2000). However, 

the aesthetic or recreational activity cannot be an activity that is illegal under federal, state, or 

local law. See Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560 (stating the injury must be a legally protected activity that a 

favorable decision will redress). 

Therefore, individuals may satisfy injury in fact if they adequately establish that (1) they 

physically use the area affected by the defendant’s challenged activity and (2) are persons “for 

whom the aesthetic and recreational values of area will be lessened” by the challenged activity. 

Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 183 (citations omitted). Consequently, if plaintiffs merely allege that they 

use an “area in the vicinity” of the challenged activity, the allegations are not sufficiently 

concrete and particularized to satisfy the physical use/visit requirement. See Lujan v. Nat’l 

Wildlife Fed’n, 497 U.S. 871, 886–89 (1990) (denying standing because members attested only 

to taking part in recreational activities “in the vicinity of” vast tracts of land, small sections of 

which would be open to mining). Therefore, this Court should affirm the district court’s holding 

because NUWF’s affidavits did not sufficiently set forth specific facts alleging that they used the 

challenged area or how the challenged activity reasonably lessened their enjoyment of the area. 

In Gaston, the court held that the organizations’ members established an injury in fact. 204 

F.3d at 156. Shealy, a member, lived four miles downstream and directly in the path of toxic 

discharge coming from Gaston’s smelting facility. Id. He testified specifically that he was forced 

to limit the quantity of fish from the lake that his family ate and the amount of time his 

grandchildren spent swimming in the lake because he feared Gaston’s discharges were polluting 

the fish and water. Id. at 153. The court found his fear reasonable and not mere conjecture 
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because the record was brimming with evidence of Gaston polluting the waters. Id. at 157. The 

record contained several EPA studies and expert testimony that showed the discharges’ harmful 

effect on the water. Id. at 152, 157. This evidence established injury in fact because Shealy 

alleged to using a specific part of the affected area, to suffering articulable injuries, and to 

enjoying the lake less because of substantiated fears of harmful pollution. Id. at 156, 161.  

In contrast, injury in fact is not established when a plaintiff attests to only a vague interest as 

opposed to a particular interest in a challenged area and fails to show how the challenged activity 

lessened this vague interest. Pollack v. U.S. Dep’t of Justice, 577 F.3d 736, 741–43 (2009). In 

Pollack, the plaintiff stated that he enjoyed viewing wildlife, eating fish, and visiting local parks. 

Id. at 742. Although these are legitimate interests, Pollack failed to establish that he enjoyed 

these interests in the affected area or in an adjacent area. Id. Instead, Pollack stated that he visited 

public parks along the Illinois’ portion of Lake Michigan, which stretches for approximately 

seventy miles. Id. at 742–43. This stretch of land includes the area containing the defendant’s 

North Chicago shooting range; however, he provided no evidence that he specifically used that 

area or an area adjacent. Id. at 743.  

Pollack' vague intention to eat freshwater fish and observe wildlife in a vast area does not 

assert specific facts that constitute an actual or imminent threat of injury. Id. Thus, he failed to 

show how a shooting range in one discrete part of North Chicago would affect his interests. 

Compare id., with Natural Res. Def. Council v. Sw. Marine, 236 F.3d 985, 993–94 (9th Cir. 

2000) (asserting an injury in fact because plaintiffs testified to deriving recreational benefits 

from using the bay adjacent to the challenged activity and to using the area less because as the 

evidence showed the defendant’s toxic chemical discharges were harming the bay). 
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Further, courts have also held that plaintiffs established injury in fact based on their sensory 

perceptions while physically using the challenged area. Am. Canoe Ass’n v. City of Louisa Water 

& Sewer Comm’n, 389 F.3d 536, 541 (6th Cir. 2004); Sierra Club, Lone Star Chapter v. Cedar 

Point Oil Co., 73 F.3d 546, 557 (5th Cir. 1996). For example, in American Canoe, members 

established injury in fact because their affidavits contained specific facts that they limited their 

recreational activities because the river appeared oily and smelled like petroleum products. 389 

F.3d at 541. Similarly, in Cedar Point, a member testified that he used the affected area less 

because the discolored water, oil, and unpleasant odors offended him. 73 F.3d at 557. 

In the present case, NUWF members failed to assert specific facts demonstrating a particular 

injury because they each testified that they took part in recreational activities “in the vicinity of” 

the challenged area except for when they were trespassing. (R. at 6). Although the members 

testified to trespassing onto Bowman’s private property to picnic and frog, these instances cannot 

be the basis for standing because trespassing is not a judicially cognizable interest. (R. at 6). 

Unlike the plaintiffs in Gaston and Southwest Marine, NUWF’s members never specifically 

state where, in relation to Bowman’s property, they engage in recreational activities. They do not 

indicate whether they fish forty miles upstream—well away from the challenged activity—or ten 

miles downstream—directly in the path of the alleged discharge. They only vaguely reference 

that they used the Muddy River and its banks for recreational activities. (R. at 6). If the river 

were a tiny runoff creek, there would be little doubt as to whether Bowman’s farming activities 

affected or could affect NUWF members’ recreational activities. This, however, is not the case. 

The river is more than 500 feet wide and runs at least eighty miles, which is a vast area. (R. at 3).  

Lujan makes clear that when a vast area is involved but the pollution affects one discrete 

area, the plaintiffs must allege specifically to using the actual or adjacent area, or no standing 
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exists. 504 U.S. at 563–65. Like in Pollack, the members testified to legitimate recreational and 

aesthetic interests; however, they failed to establish their legitimate interests in the actual 

challenged area or adjacent area. Therefore, this Court should hold that NUWF failed to establish 

standing because it did not assert specific facts alleging a concrete and particularized injury. 

Furthermore, in the instant case, the members failed demonstrate how Bowman’s farming 

activities lessened their aesthetic or recreational enjoyment of the area. In fact, the record does 

not contain testimony that the members have curtailed their use of the area. Unlike in Gaston, 

where the plaintiff used expert studies and testimony of the discharges’ harmful effects to show 

that he reasonably lessened his usage of the area, NUWF provided no such supportive evidence.   

Moreover, NUWF failed to establish reasonable actual or imminent injury based on their 

sensory perceptions while physically using the challenged area. They testified that they could not 

see a difference in the land, although one member, Milford, did state that the Muddy River looks 

more polluted. (R. at 6). However, Milford failed specifically to allege how it looks more 

polluted as the plaintiffs did in Cedar Point and American Canoe. In the instant case, the 

members testified that they use the Muddy River for recreational activities, but failed to show 

how Bowman’s activities have affected those activities. NUWF has only proved a tenuous 

relationship with the area; thus, this Court should deny NUWF standing to bring its citizen suit.  

B. NUWF’s members failed to demonstrate that their “injury” was fairly traceable to 
Bowman’s farming operation because they did not provide evidence that Bowman’s 
activities have inhibited their recreational use of the Muddy River. 

 
An injury is fairly traceable to the challenged activity when a causal connection exists 

between the suffered injury and the challenged conduct. Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560. Injuries are 

fairly traceable to an action when “a defendant has (1) discharged some pollutant in 

concentrations greater than allowed by its permit (2) into a waterway in which the plaintiffs have 
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an interest that is or may be adversely affected by the pollutant and that (3) the pollutant causes 

or contributes to the kinds of injuries alleged by the plaintiffs.” Cedar Point, 73 F.3d at 557. 

Plaintiffs are not required to prove to a scientific certainty that defendant’s conduct and 

defendant’s conduct alone is the precise cause of their harm—only that it is fairly traceable. Save 

Our Cmty. v. E.P.A., 971 F.2d 1155, 1161 (5th Cir. 1992). Plaintiffs can achieve this through 

affidavits asserting that the discharge impairs their recreational enjoyment because those 

activities depend upon good water quality. Cedar Point, 73 F.3d at 556. NUWF failed to satisfy 

the second and third prong of the test.  

In Cedar Point, the court found the injury fairly traceable to the defendant’s challenged 

activities under all three prongs. 73 F.3d at 558. The plaintiff established the second prong by 

supplying affidavits that he participated in recreational activities adjacent to Cedar Point’s 

discharges, which showed an interest that was or may have been adversely affected. Id. 

Additionally, the plaintiff presented expert testimony that Cedar Point’s discharges had a 

harmful effect on water quality and marine life. Id. Thus, the plaintiff established that his injury 

was fairly traceable to defendant’s activities because he asserted the harmful effects on the water 

quality and the ecosystem would impair his ability to enjoy canoeing and observe wildlife. Id.  

Similarly, in American Canoe, the court held that the plaintiff established the injury was 

fairly traceable to the defendant’s actions when it asserted that because the defendant exceeded 

its permit, the river became oily and odorous, which lessened their recreational interest. 389 F.3d 

at 543. It also presented evidence that these specific types of discharges could cause the 

discoloration of the water and the unpleasant odor. Id. Thus, the plaintiff established that the 

defendant’s discharge contributed to their injury by specifically demonstrating how the 

defendant’s actions could adversely affect their activities. Id.; see also Gaston, 204 F.3d at 161–
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62 (establishing injury was fairly traceable by submitting toxicity tests that showed the defendant 

was discharging toxic metals at levels that caused environmental degradation).   

In the instant case, NUWF failed to show that the alleged injury was fairly traceable to 

Bowman’s activities because it did not prove an interest that is or may be adversely affected by 

his activities. Unlike in Cedar Point and American Canoe, NUWF’s members did not supply 

evidence that they actually participate in recreational activities adjacent to Bowman’s farm. 

Thus, they cannot establish an interest that was or may be adversely affected.  

Secondly, the record is devoid of any evidence demonstrating how Bowman’s activities have 

had a harmful effect on water quality or marine life. In both Cedar Point and American Canoe, 

the plaintiffs presented specific evidence demonstrating how the discharges have caused or 

contributed to the harmful effects that interfered with their use of the area for recreational 

activities. In fact, in the present case the contrary is true. A NUDEP biologist stated that once 

Bowman completes the artificial wetlands area, it would provide a richer habitat than the pre-

Bowman wetlands area. (R. at 6). Therefore, this Court should affirm the district court’s holding 

that NUWF failed sufficiently to establish constitutional standing.   

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT ANY ALLEGED CWA VIOLATIONS 
WERE WHOLLY PAST WHEN NUWF FILED SUIT BECAUSE BOWMAN IS NOT IN CONTINUOUS 
VIOLATION AND IS NOT LIKELY TO POLLUTE IN THE FUTURE. 

 
Even if this Court finds that the NUWF meets constitutional standing, this Court still lacks 

subject matter jurisdiction. In CWA § 505, Congress provides citizen suits limited jurisdiction 

over any person “who is alleged to be in violation of (a) an effluent standard or limitation under 

this chapter or (b) an order issued by the Administrator or a State with respect to such a standard 

or limitation.” 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1) (emphasis added). Individuals violate an effluent standard 

or limitation when they discharge dredged or fill material in navigable waters without a permit. 
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§§ 1311(a), 1344(a). However, citizen suits may be brought only to enjoin or penalize ongoing 

violations, not wholly past violations. See § 1365(a)(1); see also Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. 

Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc., 484 U.S. 49, 57 (1987). When reviewing a district court’s 

conclusion that there was no ongoing violation of the CWA, this Court reviews findings of fact 

for clear error and conclusions of law de novo. Cmty Ass’n for Restoration of the Env’t v. Henry 

Bosma Dairy, 305 F.3d 943, 953 (9th Cir. 2002) (citing Sw. Marine, 236 F.3d at 998). 

The Supreme Court first described the “ongoing violation” requirement in Gwaltney, finding 

that the CWA did not grant federal courts jurisdiction over citizen suits involving wholly past 

violations. 484 U.S. at 67. Specifically, the Court explained that the words “to be in violation” 

require a plaintiff to “allege a state of either continuous or intermittent violation—that is, a 

reasonable likelihood that a past polluter will continue to pollute in the future.” Id. at 57. This 

language focuses the jurisdictional inquiry on the present, not the past; “Congress could have 

phrased its requirement in language that looked to the past (‘to have violated’), but it did not 

choose this readily available option.” Id.  

Moreover, “[p]ermitting citizen suits for wholly past violations of the Act could undermine 

the supplementary role envisioned for the citizen suit.” Id. at 61 (discussing how the legislative 

history reinforces this view because Congress intended government agencies to bring the 

majority of enforcement actions). The Court went further by suggesting that allowing citizen 

suits in circumstances similar to those in the present case would curtail the discretion of state 

enforcement authorities. Id. And such a result is not one that Congress intended when enacting 

the statute. Id. A finding that Bowman’s activities amount to an ongoing violation despite his 

compliance with NUDEP’s order would disregard Supreme Court jurisprudence.  
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A citizen plaintiff may prove an ongoing violation by showing that the violation occurred on 

or after the suit was filed, or has a reasonable likelihood of continuing in the future. E.g., Henry 

Bosma Dairy, 305 F.3d at 953. When applying the CWA’s jurisdictional limits to this case, 

NUWF failed to meet the “in violation” requirement by either (1) alleging that Bowman is 

currently discharging illegal fill material or (2) alleging a reasonable likelihood that he will 

pollute in the future. On the contrary, the undisputed facts show that NUWF’s allegations 

concern wholly past activity. 

A. NUWF failed to show an ongoing violation at the time or after it filed suit because 
Bowman had ceased the challenged activities and agreed to NUDEP’s 
administrative order before it filed suit. 

 
NUWF may argue Bowman is in violation and not in compliance as long as fill remains in 

areas once “wet.” In its essence, NUWF’s argument is that in every case involving the filling of 

wetlands the violation is ongoing until full restoration occurs, and because NUDEP allowed fill 

to remain in certain areas, the violation remains ongoing. However, NUWF’s test for compliance 

would completely divest NUDEP of its congressionally granted enforcement discretion to 

determine the proper remedy for CWA violations.  

Indeed, numerous courts have rejected the argument that a violation is ongoing as long as fill 

or dredged material remains in place. A court would undermine the ongoing violation 

requirement if it concluded the mere presence of pollutants after the discharge activities have 

ceased constituted an ongoing violation. See Conn. Coastal Fishermen’s Ass’n v. Remington 

Arms Co., 989 F.2d 1305, 1313 (2nd Cir. 1993). Courts, before and after Gwaltney, have taken 

the position that the mere effects from prior discharges are not ongoing violations. See id. at 

1312; see also Hamker v. Diamond Shamrock Chem. Co., 756 F.2d 392, 397 (5th Cir. 1985) 

(dismissing suit because it alleged only a single discharge with continuing effects, but not a 
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continuing discharge); Friends of Santa Fe Cnty. v. LAC Minerals, Inc., 892 F. Supp. 1333, 1354 

(D.N.M. 1995) (finding no ongoing violation from pile of waste rock on surface). In all these 

cases, the point source had ceased discharging at the time of suit; all that remained was the 

migration, decomposition, or diffusion of pollutants from a past identifiable discharge. Thus, no 

ongoing violation existed to grant the courts’ jurisdiction over the disputes. 

In Remington Arms, the court directly and persuasively rejected this argument. 989 F.2d at 

1313. Remington operated a shooting range that fired targets over Long Island Sound, and over 

seventy years of operation, it deposited five million pounds of lead and eleven million pounds of 

clay targets into the Sound. Id. at 1308. Remington permanently ceased operations four months 

prior to the plaintiffs filing a citizen suit alleging that it violated CWA § 404 by discharging fill 

(lead shot and clay targets) without a permit. Id. at 1309–10. The court found the defendant’s 

undisputed decision to cease operations prior to the filing of the lawsuit rendered any violation 

wholly past. Id. at 1312. In doing so, the court expressly rejected the argument that the lead shot 

remnants in the water, which continued to pollute, constituted an “ongoing” violation. Id. 

Furthermore, the leading case in support of NUWF’s proposition actually undermines its 

argument. See Sasser v. E.P.A., 990 F.2d 127, 129 (4th Cir. 1993). Sasser is not a citizen suit 

under CWA § 505 but an appeal of an EPA penalty issued under CWA § 309. Id. The issue was 

not whether the violation was wholly past, because only citizen suits are limited to “in violation” 

enforcement. Id.; Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 58, 60–61. The issue was Dr. Sasser went ahead with his 

plans to discharge dredged or fill material into the wetlands on his property despite the Corps 

denying his permit. Id. at 128. He not only refused to comply with the Corps’ order to restore the 

wetlands, he refused to comply with the EPA’s administrative order, which would have brought 

his property into CWA compliance. Id. Therefore, although the court did hold that Dr. Sasser’s 
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actions constituted an ongoing violation, it was for his continued refusal to comply with the 

agencies’ orders; thus, each day the pollutant remained in the wetlands was another violation. Id. 

at 129. Sasser is inapposite to our case.  

However, NUWF may urge this Court to reach a contrary result by arguing that “filled 

wetlands” are different because other pollutants dissipate whereas fill simply remains and that 

Gwaltney does not apply because the Supreme Court did not address filled wetlands. This 

distinction, however, has no legal or factual basis. CWA § 505(a) makes no distinction based on 

the type of “effluent standard or limitation” that the defendant is “alleged to be in violation of” or 

the manner in which that standard was violated. See 33 U.S.C. § 1365. Factually, a distinction 

between pollutants that dissipate and those that remain is nonsensical.  

Many commonly discharged pollutants, such as copper, zinc, or lead, do not dissipate; 

instead, they linger in the environment causing significant potential or actual harm. See Gaston, 

204 F.3d at 157 (stating the continued harmful environmental effects from unpermitted 

discharges of copper, lead, and various other metals); Sw. Marine, 236 F.3d at 991(finding that 

unpermitted discharges of copper, tributyltin, and zinc might have long-term negative effects on 

the water). Indeed, if these effluents simply dissipated, it is unlikely that any plaintiff would have 

the requisite standing to file a citizen suit. See Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 181 (finding standing based 

on plaintiffs' concerns over mercury discharges’ lingering effects). Any effort to treat cases 

involving fill material differently based on lingering effects of the past violation are premised 

upon a legal distinction Congress did not make and a factual distinction that does not exist. 

Thus, “[o]nce the violator stops adding a pollutant in violation of a permit, the violation itself 

is over.” United States v. Rutherford Oil Corp., 756 F. Supp. 2d 782, 791 (S.D. Tex. 2010). In 

Rutherford, the alleged violation, prop washing, ended when Rutherford stopped prop washing, 



 

19 
 

and what remained were the effects of the violation, but the effects are not themselves violations. 

Id. The court noted that the section at issue prohibits the “discharge of any pollutant” “except in 

compliance with” other enumerated sections of the CWA. Id. at 790–91 (citing 33 U.S.C. 

§1311(a)) (emphasis added). It reasoned that the section’s construction indicated a “discrete 

action instead of the result of that action.” Id. at 791. Therefore, a CWA violating discharge is 

not a continuing violation on the basis that the defendant failed to remedy its effects unless a 

government agency has ordered the remediation. See id. 

In the present case, the undisputed facts show that Bowman ceased his alleged violation on or 

about July 15, 2011. Yet, NUWF did not file their suit until forty-five days after Bowman ceased 

his activities. Under the plain language of the statute, NUWF cannot allege that Bowman was in 

violation of CWA when the undisputed facts show that any alleged violation ended on July 15, 

2011. Furthermore, this Court should reject NUWF’s argument that as long as fill remains in 

wetland areas Bowman is in violation because the great weight of judicial and statutory authority 

directs such a conclusion.  

Like in Remington Arms and Rutherford, biological material and soil remained in the 

wetlands area after Bowman ceased preparing his field. Nevertheless, once Bowman stopped 

adding the fill, the violation itself was over. In both cases, the alleged violation’s effects remain 

but are not themselves violations. The fact that NUDEP’s order may be unacceptable to NUWF 

is not determinative of whether or not Bowman’s activities amount to a continuing violation. 

Therefore, this Court should find that any violation is wholly past and the continuing effects of a 

single discharge do not constitute an ongoing violation.  

If this Court allows NUWF’s suit, it could potentially undermine the supplementary role 

Congress envisioned for citizen suits because the suit’s outcome could conflict with NUDEP’s 
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remedies and determinations. In addition, Bowman is not in a position to remove the fill because 

NUDEP has specifically allowed it to remain. Therefore, because Bowman is not refusing to 

comply with NUDEP’s decree, this Court should hold no ongoing violation exists.  

Finally, although Bowman sowed winter wheat after NUWF filed its citizen suit this does not 

constitute a violation. (R. at 5). Sowing winter wheat is consistent with the decree terms, which 

allow Bowman to farm his property as long as he does not clear more wetlands area and 

maintains the conservation easement. Thus, he did not violate the CWA or the decree because 

where he sowed the wheat was already cleared and ready for planting. Again, NUWF should not 

interfere with NUDEP’s prosecutorial discretion; and if this Court allows NUWF to bring suit, it 

would interfere with that discretion.    

B. NUWF failed to present any evidence that Bowman is likely to violate the CWA in 
the future. 

 
A citizen plaintiff may also prove an ongoing violation by showing that the violation is 

reasonably likely to reoccur either intermittently or sporadically in the future. E.g., Henry Bosma 

Dairy, 305 F.3d at 953. Intermittent or sporadic violations cease to be ongoing when there is no 

reasonable likelihood of repetition. Id. Further, a court may evaluate a defendant’s remedial 

efforts to determine whether a continuing violation has in fact ceased. Sierra Club v. Union Oil 

Co., 853 F.2d 667, 671 (9th Cir. 1988). 

For instance, in Remington Arms, the court held no ongoing violation existed because the 

plaintiff presented no evidence to rebut the defendant’s claim that it would not violate the CWA 

in the future. 989 F.2d at 1312. The state agency ordered Remington Arms to cease all 

discharges, and the district court found no evidence it had violated the order. Id. Thus, “no fair-

minded juror could find that there was a likelihood . . . that Remington would discharge lead shot 

in the future.” Id.  
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Conversely, when three separate unpermitted spill events occurred after the citizen suit was 

filed, a danger of continuing recurrence was found to exist. Am. Canoe Ass’n v. Murphy Farms, 

Inc., 412 F.3d 536, 539 (4th Cir. 2005). Based on this evidence, the court, in Murphy Farms, 

held that the defendants were in violation at the time of the complaint. Id. Likewise, a 

defendant’s demonstrated contempt for an enforcement agency’s regulations and orders suggests 

a strong likelihood of future violations. Ctr. for Biological Diversity v. Marina Point Dev. 

Assocs., 434 F. Supp. 2d 789, 798 (C.D. Cal. 2006). In Marina Point, the court held the 

defendants were in violation of the Act when the suit was filed because they refused to comply 

after being repeatedly ordered to remediate the wetlands area. Id. 

In the present case, like in Remington Arms, NUWF presented no evidence to rebut 

Bowman’s claim that his activities have ceased and that he will not violate the CWA in the 

future. Bowman has not violated the CWA or the decree since NUWF filed its citizen suit. The 

record does not contain evidence of Bowman clearing any more of his land or filling any part of 

the remaining wetlands. Additionally, in contrast to the defendant in Marina Point who held the 

Corps’ regulations in contempt, the record demonstrates Bowman’s good faith compliance with 

NUDEP’s order. Even though Bowman maintains he did not violate the CWA, he has willingly 

agreed to all of NUDEP’s regulations.  

In a wetlands case, dredging or filling activity is not of a continuous nature. A violation 

requires an affirmative action. Accordingly, in the instant case, fill exists in areas once wet 

because NUDEP chose not to disturb those areas but rather required remedial measures to 

mitigate affected wetlands. Thus, any violations of the CWA are wholly past. In short, the 

district court correctly concluded that NUWF has not alleged and cannot allege that Bowman is 

in violation of the CWA; therefore, this Court should affirm the district court’s decision. 
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III. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT NUDEP’S CIVIL ENFORCEMENT SUIT 
AGAINST BOWMAN BARS NUWF’S CITIZEN SUIT. 

 
This court lacks subject matter jurisdiction for a third reason. Although, the CWA allows any 

citizen to commence a civil action against a private individual, the statute bars citizen suits if the 

State has commenced and is diligently prosecuting an enforcement action against the violator in 

a United States court. 33 U.S.C § 1365 (a)(1), (b)(1)(B). As the Supreme Court stated, this bar to 

citizen suits reflects congressional intent that the “citizen suit is meant to supplement rather than 

supplant governmental action.” Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc., 484 

U.S. 49, 60 (1987). The citizen suit limitation is necessary to ensure that citizens do not play a 

“potentially intrusive” role in environmental enforcement; it is important to preserve the 

“government agency’s discretion to act in the public interest.” Ark. Wildlife Fed’n v. ICI 

Americas, Inc., 29 F.3d 376, 380 (8th Cir. 1994). Thus, a court does not have jurisdiction to 

entertain a citizen suit if (1) an agency has already commenced a court proceeding and (2) the 

proceeding is being diligently prosecuted. The district court correctly barred NUWF’s citizen 

suit because NUDEP commenced suit and is diligently prosecuting the alleged violation in a 

United States court.  

A. The CWA bars citizen suits when an administering agency is diligently prosecuting 
an enforcement action against the alleged violator for the same violation in a court 
of the United States. 

 
This Court reviews a district court’s summary judgment grant de novo; however, plaintiffs 

bear the heavy burden of proving that the state agency failed diligently to prosecute the violation. 

E.g. Karr v. Hefner, 475 F.3d 1192, 1198 (10th Cir. 2007). The burden is heavy because a 

presumption exists that a state agency is diligently prosecuting the violation. Id. Therefore, this 

Court must presume the state agency’s diligent prosecution in the absence of persuasive evidence 

that the state has engaged in a pattern of conduct that could be considered “dilatory, collusive, or 
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otherwise in bad faith.” E.g. Friends of Milwaukee’s Rivers v. Milwaukee Metro. Sewage Dist., 

382 F.3d 743, 760 (7th Cir. 2004) (quoting Conn. Fund for Env’t v. Contract Plating Co., 631 F. 

Supp. 1291, 1293 (D. Conn. 1986)).  

An enforcement action is considered diligent if it is capable of requiring compliance with the 

CWA and is calculated in good faith to do so. Piney Run Pres. Ass’n v.Cnty. Comm’rs, 523 F.3d 

453, 460 (4th Cir. 2008). Diligent prosecution does not require that the government action seek 

or achieve the citizen plaintiff’s definition of success; in fact, it does not even require a 

satisfactory result. Karr, 475 F.3d at 1197; see Ark. Wildlife, 29 F.3d at 380 (“It would be 

unreasonable to find failure to diligently prosecute simply because [defendants] prevailed in 

some fashion or because a compromise was reached.”). It simply requires diligent prosecution. 

Id.; N. & S. Rivers Watershed Ass’n, Inc. v. Town of Scituate, 949 F.2d 552, 558 (1st Cir. 1991) 

(stating preclusion applies even if the government action does not demand the same relief sought 

as in the citizen suit). “Duplicative enforcement actions add little or nothing to compliance 

actions already underway, but do divert State resources away from remedying violations in order 

to focus on the duplicative effort.” Scituate, 949 F.2d at 556. 

Furthermore, when a state agency chooses to enforce the CWA through a consent decree, a 

court undermines the agency strategy if it fails to defer to the agency’s judgment and gives 

defendants little incentive to negotiate, which can costs states the expense of costly litigation. 

Karr, 475 F.3d at 1197. Thus, courts should be particularly deferential when agencies choose to 

issue a consent decree. Piney Run, 523 F.3d at 459. Accordingly, once an agency exercises its 

authority, the agency is vested with substantial prosecutorial discretion in determining how to 

resolve each situation, and citizen suits should not be used to interfere with that discretion.  
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The CWA’s purpose is to “provide society with a remedy against polluters in the interest of 

protecting the environment.” See 33 U.S.C. § 1251. “If the Government action achieves that end, 

the fact that [NUWF] or any other private attorney general is barred from duplicating that effort 

should hardly seem surprising or harsh.” E.P.A. v. City of Green Forest, 921 F.2d 1394, 1405 

(8th Cir. 1990) (stating that governments are in the best position to defend society’s rights as a 

whole) (quoting Hudson River Fishermen’s Ass’n v. Cnty of Westchester, 686 F. Supp. 1044, 

1052 (S.D.N.Y. 1988). A comparison between the present case and previous cases clearly shows 

that NUDEP’s actions far exceed the diligent prosecution threshold.  

In Karr, the court held that the EPA had diligently prosecuted the defendants because it had 

settled with the defendant through judicial action in a United Sates court. 475 F.3d at 1195. 

Before the citizen plaintiffs filed their suit, the EPA filed its enforcement action and submitted a 

consent decree. Id. at 1194–95. The district court approved the decree because its purpose was to 

resolve all of the claims at issue and it was capable of resolving the issues. Id. at 1194. 

Therefore, under its deferential review, the reviewing court held that the EPA’s prosecution 

against the defendants was diligent. Id. at 1198.  

Likewise, in Piney Run, the court found a court proceeding and a consent judgment 

evidenced the state agency’s diligent prosecution. 523 F.3d at 460. After defendant’s discharges 

exceeded its permit’s thermal limitations, the state agency modified its permit to allow these 

discharges and filed an enforcement action to require compliance with the modified permit. Id. 

The enforcement culminated in a consent judgment that required the defendant to comply with 

the modified permit’s thermal limitations or pay monetary penalties. Id. Although the plaintiff 

argued the consent judgment benefited the defendant, the court still ruled that the state agency 

was diligently prosecuting because its settlement was capable of requiring compliance. Compare 
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id., with Jones v. City of Lakeland, 224 F.3d 518, 522–23 (6th Cir. 2000) (holding that a ten-year 

administrative enforcement allowed additional discharges, waived countless violation notices, 

and repeatedly extended compliance deadlines did not qualify as diligent prosecution).  

In the present case, NUDEP’s consent decree and its civil enforcement action against 

Bowman undisputedly constitutes diligent prosecution. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the 

district court’s decision because citizen suits are only appropriate when federal or state 

authorities appear unwilling to act. 

B. NUDEP has commenced and is diligently prosecuting Bowman because it filed an 
enforcement action in a court of the United States and submitted a consent decree 
that requires CWA compliance. 

 
Once NUDEP was notified of Bowman’s alleged violation, it sent him notice that he had 

violated both state and federal law. (R. at 4). NUDEP, acting under its prosecutorial discretion, 

negotiated a settlement with Bowman that was incorporated into an administrative order. (R. at 

4). Like in Karr, after issuing the order, NUDEP went a step further and filed an enforcement 

action against Bowman under CWA § 505 in the United States District Court for New Union. (R. 

at 5). NUDEP filed its action twenty days before NUWF filed its duplicate suit. (R. at 5). In 

NUDEP’s district court case, it has filed a motion to enter a decree with terms identical to the 

order, and Bowman has agreed to this motion. (R. at 5).  

In the decree, Bowman has agreed to abstain from any further dredging and to convey to 

NUDEP a portion of his private property as a conservation easement. (R. at 4). The decree 

further requires Bowman to construct and maintain a year-round wetland on the buffer zone 

between the wooded area and the wheat field. (R. at 4). Without question, the conservation 

easement will substantially benefit the environment. (R. at 4). A NUDEP biologist testified that 
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once the buffer-zone wetland is established it would provide a richer wetland habitat than the 

previous occasionally-inundated wetland. (R. at 6).  

Moreover, Bowman has agreed to surrender another stick in his property right’s bundle; the 

easement allows the public entry for appropriate recreational uses. (R. at 4). For a private 

landowner, NUDEP’s requirements are quite harsh because Bowman must allow strangers on his 

property and easements often lower property values. See James Boyd, Kathryn Cabellero & R. 

David Simpson, The Law and Economics of Habitat Conservation: Lessons From an Analysis of 

Easement Acquisitions, 19 Stan. Envtl. L.J. 209, 234 (2000) (noting that conservation easements 

generally reduce the value of the landowner’s property between “twenty percent to greater than 

ninety percent”). As in Scituate, these requirements will bring Bowman into CWA compliance; 

thus, this Court should hold that NUDEP’s actions constitute diligent prosecution.  

Although NUDEP could have assessed an administrative penalty, it chose to forgo this 

option. (R. at 4). Choosing to forgo assessing penalties in this case was a good strategy. While 

Bowman maintains he did not violate the CWA, he agreed to settle with NUDEP, agreed to the 

administrative order, and agreed to the judicial decree. (R. at 4–5). Bowman’s willingness to 

work and settle with NUDEP saved New Union costly litigation. Additionally, despite forgoing 

monetary penalties, the consent decree compels Bowman to spend significant monetary 

resources implementing the requirements. This Court should defer to NUDEP’s decision to settle 

the violation through a judicially approved consent decree.  

All of NUDEP’s actions were designed to address the alleged violation. This record far 

exceeds the diligent prosecution threshold. NUWF did not meet its heavy burden of proving that 

the state agency failed diligently to prosecute Bowman. Although NUWF may disagree with the 

consent decree’s terms, diligent prosecution does not hinge on its definition of success or 
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satisfactory result. NUDEP’s actions against Bowman will bring him into compliance with the 

CWA and that is what diligent prosecution requires of a state agency.  

In addition, the record does not indicate any procedural irregularities that NUDEP’s efforts in 

prosecuting Bowman have been “dilatory, collusive or otherwise in bad faith.” Furthermore, 

NUWF’s claim preclusion does not prevent it from participating in the process; it may intervene 

in NUDEP’s action as a matter of right under § 1365(b)(1)(B). 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B). 

Nevertheless, because the statutory scheme prefers government prosecution, NUWF is not free to 

prosecute a duplicative CWA suit. This result protects NUDEP and Bowman from multiple suits 

and conflicting court orders to enforce the same statutory standards.  

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT BOWMAN DID NOT DISCHARGE A   
POLLUTANT INTO NAVIGABLE WATER; THUS, HE DID NOT VIOLATE THE CWA.  

 
The CWA limits jurisdiction to discharges that “add” materials and is not so broad as to 

include all earth-moving activities taking place in wetlands. Nat’l Wildlilfe Fed’n v. Consumers 

Power Co., 862 F.2d 580, 583 (6th Cir. 1988); United States v. Wilson, 133 F.3d 251, 259 (4th 

Cir. 1997). CWA § 404 authorizes a state to issue permits for “the discharge of dredged or fill 

material into the navigable waters at specified disposal sites.” 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1344(a), 

1344(g). Further, CWA § 301(a) provides that the “discharge of any pollutant by any person” is 

unlawful unless in compliance with the Act’s permit requirements. § 1311(a). The Act defines a 

discharge as “any addition of any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.” § 

1362(12). And, according to the Corps’ regulations, the term “discharge of fill material” means 

the addition of fill material into waters of the United States. 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(f) (2012).  

Accordingly, a permit is required when an activity (1) adds (2) any pollutant (3) into 

navigable waters (4) from any point source. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1344(a), 1362(12). In the present case, 

the question is whether Bowman’s activities constituted an addition. The district court correctly 
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concluded that Bowman did not add any pollutant when he moved native fill from one part of his 

field to another part of his field in preparation for farming; therefore, Bowman’s activities did 

not require a permit.  

A. The plain meaning of the word addition supports the district court’s holding that 
moving native soil within a wetland does not constitute an addition.  

First, the statute’s plain text requires an “addition” of a pollutant as a prerequisite to 

regulating a point source discharge. See Nat’l Mining Ass’n v. U. S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 145 

F.3d 1399, 1404 (D.C. Cir. 1998). Addition means “to join or unite (to) so as to increase the 

number, size, quantity, etc.” The Shorter Oxford English Dictionary 25 (4th ed. 1993). This 

common sense approach to interpreting addition follows the court’s reasoning in NMA. The court 

invalidated the Corps’ and EPA’s Tulloch Rule because the definition was overly broad and went 

beyond the agencies’ statutory authority. NMA, 145 F.3d at 1404. 

The Tulloch rule sought to expand the definition of “discharge” to include “redeposit, of 

dredged material, including excavated material, into waters of the United States which is 

incidental to any activity, including mechanized landclearing, ditching, channelization, or other 

excavation that destroys or degrades waters of the United States.” Id. at 1402 (citing 33 C.F.R. § 

323.2(d)(1)(iii) (2012)). The court explained that the plain meaning of addition “cannot 

reasonably encompass the situation in which material is removed from the waters of the United 

States and a small portion of it happens to fall back.” Id. at 1404. The logic of the court’s 

interpretation is consistent with the CWA’s plain meaning. Activities that do not result in a net 

addition of material cannot be a discharge.  

Moreover, any attempt to distinguish the present case on the basis that Bowman’s activities 

do not involve mere incidental fallback but constitute environmental damage sufficient to 

establish a regulated discharge is incorrect. A CWA violation does not hinge on the level of 
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supposed environmental damage, but rather on the nature of the activity. See NMA, 145 F.3d at 

1402. In fact, the preamble to the definition of discharge explicitly states that jurisdiction “is not 

dependent upon the effects of the activity . . . .” See Corps, Further Revisions to the Clean Water 

Act Regulatory Definition of Discharge of Dredged Material, 66 Fed. Reg. 4550, 4563 (Jan. 17, 

2001) (codified in 33 C.F.R. § 323.2(d)(2)(i) (2012)). 

Furthermore, the legislative history of the CWA evidences that Congress did not intend such 

a broad interpretation of discharge. Am. Mining Cong. v. U. S. Army Corps of Eng’rs, 951 F. 

Supp. 267, 278 (D.D.C. 1997). In AMC, the court noted that Congress understood discharge to 

involve relocating material from one site to a separate site. Id. In enacting the CWA, Congress 

did not intend for excavating and moving native fill within the same site to be a discharge. Id. 

Floor debates over the CWA support this narrower jurisdictional view: “[W]e never intended 

under section 404 that the Corps of Engineers be involved in the daily lives of our farmers, 

realtors, people involved in forestry, anyone that is moving a little bit of earth anywhere in this 

country that might have an impact on navigable streams.” 123 Cong. Rec. S13,563 (daily ed. 

Aug. 4, 1997) (statement of Sen. Domenici).  

Further, Congress regulates excavation and fill activities in a similar statute, River and 

Harbors Appropriation Act, which shows the fact that it did not intend § 404’s discharge 

requirement to reach those types of activities. AMC, 951 F. Supp. at 273. “‘Where a statute with 

respect to one subject contains a given provision, the omission of such a provision from a similar 

statute is significant to show a different intention existed.’” Id. at 272–73 (quoting Richerson v. 

Jones, 551 F.2d 918, 928 (3rd Cir. 1977). It is apparent from the legislative history and the 

existence of another statute, Congress never intended to regulate Bowman’s excavation activities 

under CWA § 404.  
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Moreover, the requirement that fill or dredged material must be discharged at “specified 

disposal sites” evidences that there is both a temporal and geographical separation between 

excavation and disposal. See 33 U.S.C. § 1344(a); NMA, 145 F.3d at 1410 (Silberman, J., 

concurring). For there to be a discharge, the material must be affirmatively relocated from one 

site to another. See NMA, 145 F.3d at 1410 (Silberman, J., concurring). Thus, in the present case, 

Bowman did not discharge fill material because he moved native soil within the same site.  

If this Court holds that Bowman’s activities constitute a CWA violation, then its 

interpretation of discharge would make “at specified disposal site” superfluous. See Ctr. for 

Biological Diversity v. Salazar, 695 F.3d 893, 903 (9th Cir. 2012) (citations omitted) (“It is a 

cardinal principle of statutory construction that a statute should be construed, if possible, so that 

no clause, sentence, or word shall be superfluous, void, or insignificant.”). Bowman’s excavation 

and disposal locations are in exactly the same site; and Congress presumptively put every word 

in the statute for a reason. Thus, Congress’ use of very specific phrases evidences its intent not to 

regulate Bowman’s type of activities.  

In addition, if this court gives a broad interpretation to the phrase “discharge of dredge and 

fill material,” it would have severe public policy implications. There would be virtually no limits 

to the activities that would require a § 404 permit. As recognized in NMA, such interpretation 

“[i]n effect . . . subjects to federal regulation virtually all excavation and dredging performed in 

wetlands.” 145 F.3d at 1401. Individuals on their private land regularly engage in projects that 

involve removal of soil, vegetation, and debris from wetlands. An expansion of the CWA to 

include any activity that has any type of hydrological impact would severely affect the private 

landowner. Requiring every private landowner to apply for a § 404 permit would also divert the 

limited resources of state governments. In enacting the CWA, Congress sought to address water 
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pollution issues of national importance, not to regulate every activity that has some detrimental 

effect on streams and wetlands. The intent of Congress is yet another reason why this court 

should affirm the district court’s judgment. 

B. Both the traditional interpretation and the unitary waters theory’s interpretation of 
addition support the district court’s holding that Bowman’s activities do not violate 
the CWA.  

 
First, a line of cases developed the traditional approach to the interpretation of the term 

addition. These cases have held that an addition “occurs only if the point source itself physically 

introduces a pollutant into water from the outside world.” See Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Gorsuch, 

693 F.2d 156, 175 (D.C. Cir. 1982); Consumers Power, 862 F.2d at 584. Second, the plain 

meaning of the term addition is the basis for the unitary waters theory. Friends of Everglades v. 

S. Fla. Water Mgmt. Dist., 570 F.3d 1210, 1217 (11th Cir. 2009). The theory holds that an 

addition to navigable waters does not occur when moving existing pollutants from one navigable 

water to another. Id. at 1217. An addition occurs “only when pollutants first enter navigable 

waters from a point source.” Id. at 1217. Thus, under either interpretation, the district court 

correctly held that Bowman’s activities did not constitute an addition.  

1. Under the traditional approach, a discharge did not occur because Bowman’s 
bulldozer did not physically introduce a pollutant from the outside world.  

 
The EPA put forth its traditional approach to interpreting the term addition as occurring only 

“if the point source itself physically introduces a pollutant into water from the outside world” in 

Gorsuch. 693 F.2d at 175. The court analyzed the amount of deference it should give the EPA 

and its definition finding that, in general, courts must give great deference to an administrating 

agency’s statutory interpretation if it is a reasonable construction. Gorsuch, 693 F.2d at 166. 

In Gorsuch the court concluded, that based on EPA’s substantial discretion in administering 

the CWA, it was reasonable that Congress intended it to have the power to define addition. See 
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id. at 175. Thus, because the EPA deserves great deference, this Court should adhere to its 

definition that addition only occurs when pollutant is introduced from the outside world. 

Consumers Power, 862 F.2d at 584 (citing Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Nat’l Res. Def. Council, 467 

U.S. 837, 843 (1984) (explaining that if a statute is silent or ambiguous on a specific question, 

courts must defer to the administering agency’s reasonable construction of that statute)). A court 

must uphold an agency’s interpretation as long as the agency based it on a permissible 

construction. Chevron, 467 U.S. at 844–45 (adding that the interpretation does not need to be the 

best one or one the court would choose, it only needs to be reasonable). 

The statute does not define the term addition of a pollutant, and the “outside world” 

definition is a reasonable construction. Gorsuch, 693 F.2d at 175. In Gorsuch, the parties 

conceded that the dam alters the downstream water quality; nevertheless, the court upheld the 

EPA’s interpretation. Id. at 165, 175. Although the dam alters water quality when water passes 

through it into the downstream river, no discharge has taken place because discharge requires the 

point source to introduce the pollutant from the outside world. Id.  

Moreover, in Consumers Power, the court reaffirmed the EPA’s addition interpretation when 

it held that a hydroelectric facility’s discharge of dead fish remains was not an addition of 

pollutants to navigable waters. 862 F.2d at 585. The facility was merely moving water that 

already contained the pollutants; thus, the movement itself was not an addition because it did not 

introduce a pollutant from the outside world. Id. at 581. It did not add a pollutant because any 

fish released from the facility into Lake Michigan originated in Lake Michigan. Id. at 585. 

Additionally, the court rejected the district court’s reasoning that an addition had occurred 

because the facility’s turbines created the pollutant when the turbines changed the live fish to a 

mixture of live and dead fish. Id. Live fish are as much of a pollutant as the dead-live fish 
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cocktail because both constitute biological materials, but the facility does not add them it simply 

moves the water already containing them through its turbines. Id. at 585–86. 

 Additionally, EPA’s “outside world” definition applies to the discharge of a pollutant under 

§ 404 as well as § 402. If the EPA intended the phrase to have different meanings, it would have 

used different phrases. See Firestone v. Howerton, 671 F.2d 317, 320 (9th Cir. 1982) (holding 

that when the same terms are used in different sections of a statute, those terms receive the same 

meaning); Gonzales v. Barber, 207 F.2d 398, 402 (9th Cir. 1953) (“The meaning of a term used 

in a statute cannot mean one thing for one situation and something else for a different situation 

else the law would not have that reasonable certainty which the people have a right to expect.”). 

Therefore, although the present case involves a § 404 permit, this Court should apply the outside 

world interpretation of addition. 

In the instant case, Bowman’s bulldozer (the point source) did not introduce a pollutant from 

the outside world into the wetlands area. The bulldozer, like in Gorsuch, transferred native fill 

from one area to another area within the same site; it may have changed the quality, but no 

discharge took place because nothing from the outside world was introduced. In Consumers 

Power, the point source changed the existing pollutant’s form, but did not introduce any new 

pollutant; this is what Bowman did when he prepared the field. He changed the existing soil and 

biological material and then released it in the same site, but he did not introduce any new 

substance from the outside into his wetlands area. His farming activities did not create new soil 

or biological material. Consequently, this Court should affirm the district court’s decision 

because Bowman did not add any pollutant from the outside world.  
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2. Under the unitary waters theory, Bowman’s activities did not constitute an addition 
because his activities involved moving existing pollutants from one navigable water to a 
hydrologically connected water.  

 
The unitary waters theory holds that an addition to navigable waters does not occur when 

moving existing pollutants from one navigable water to another. Everglades, 570 F.3d at 1217. 

An addition occurs “only when pollutants first enter navigable waters from a point source.” Id. 

The Supreme Court has adopted a metaphor explaining the theory, “If one takes a ladle of soup 

from a pot, lifts it above the pot, and pours it back into the pot, one has not ‘added’ soup or 

anything else to the pot.” Id. at 1217 (citing S. Fla. Water Mgmt. Dist. v. Miccosukee Tribe, 541 

U.S. 95, 110 (2004). This theory is the basis for the EPA’s Water Transfers Rule. Id. at 1217–18.  

A water transfer means an activity that “conveys or connects waters of the United States 

without subjecting the transferred water to intervening industrial, municipal, or commercial use.” 

Id. Such transfers do not require a permit because they do not constitute the addition of a 

pollutant. 40 C.F.R. § 122.3(i) (2008). As previously discussed, courts should give Chevron 

deference to an EPA regulation if it is a permissible construction of an ambiguous statute. 

Everglades, 570 F.3d at 1219. After a discussion of both parties’ interpretation of “any addition 

of any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source,” the court concluded that the phrase 

is ambiguous. Id. at 1227. Thus, the only issue was whether the EPA’s regulation, which accepts 

the unitary waters theory, is a permissible construction. Id. at 1227. The court held it is a 

reasonable construction and not arbitrary or capricious. Id. at 1228 (quoting Chevron, 467 U.S. at 

844). 

Therefore, this Court should apply the unitary waters theory to the present case. The wetlands 

and the Muddy River are hydrologically connected waters. (R. at 3). Any transfer of pollutants 

between the wetlands area and the river did not constitute an addition. Bowman’s bulldozer lifted 
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soil above the wetlands area and dropped it back into the wetlands; it did not add soil or anything 

else. He did not subject the material to any intervening industrial, municipal, or commercial use; 

Bowman simply moved native fill from one area to another in the same wetlands to prepare a 

field for farming. Under the unitary waters theory, Bowman’s activities did not require a § 404 

permit; thus, he was not in violation of the CWA.  

CONCLUSION 

 The district court correctly granted Bowman’s Motion for Summary Judgment in full. 

First, NUWF failed to sufficiently assert specific facts alleging an injury in fact fairly traceable 

to Bowman’s challenged activities. Second, NUWF failed to establish the subject matter 

jurisdiction requirement that an ongoing violation existed at the time or after it filed suit. NUWF 

was unable to establish an ongoing violation because Bowman ceased the challenged activities a 

month and a half before NUWF filed its citizen suit. Third, NUWF failed to meets its burden in 

showing that NUDEP is not diligently prosecuting Bowman. Finally, because Bowman’s 

farming activities did not add a pollutant to his wetlands area, the activities did not require a 

permit; thus, he did not violate the CWA. Therefore, Appellee, Jim Bob Bowman, respectfully 

requests this Court to affirm the district court’s judgment in full.  
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